RECEIVED

JAN 30 2017

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
S. Jackson Kimball, Circuit Court Judge

C.A. Nos: 2013-CP-46-00438; 2013-CP-46-00440
Appellate Case No: 2016-001272

Robert Clay Sparrow and Mickey Crowe..... Respondents,

v.

Fort Mill Holdings, LLC, David Baucom and Maurer Holdings,
LLC..... Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Paul S. Landis
FAYSSOUX & LANDIS, P.A.
209 E. Washington Street
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 233-0445
(864) 233-4781 (Fax)
Attorney for Appellants

January 25, 2017

ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err in enforcing settlement in spite of the fact that Defendants/Appellants David Baucom, Fort Mill Holdings, LLC, and Maurer Holdings, LLC would not have signed the settlement memorandum if they had been advised of the law that governed the underlying actions?
2. Did the trial court err in enforcing settlement when the result achieved by Plaintiff/Respondent Sparrow violates applicable law and public policy?
3. Did the trial court err in failing to consider the substantive, governing law and public policy which applied to the purchase money notes that are the subject of this matter?
4. Did the trial court err in enforcing settlement in spite of the fact that the settlement constituted an impermissible waiver of North Carolina's anti-deficiency statute?
5. Did the trial court err in enforcing settlement in spite of the fact that documents contemplated by the settlement memorandum were never executed?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The underlying companion actions, C.A. No. 2013-CP-46-00438 and C.A. No. 2013-CP-46-00438 were filed by Robert Clay Sparrow and Mickey Crowe on February 8, 2013. In the actions, Plaintiffs sought, in part, to foreclose on two adjoining parcels of land in York County (“Subject Property”) which were sold by Plaintiffs on December 1, 2011 to Fort Mill Holdings, LLC and Maurer Holdings, LLC for \$907,300.00 and \$284,500.00, respectively. Plaintiffs also sought to obtain deficiency judgments against both LLCs and David Baucom individually. Defendants timely filed Answers on March 29, 2013. Mediation was held on October 7, 2014, at which time all parties except for Fort Mill Holdings, LLC and Maurer Holdings, LLC signed a Memorandum of Settlement.¹ An agent of Fort Mill Holdings, LLC and Maurer Holdings, LLC, Tracy Goings, did not attend mediation but appears to have signed the Memorandum of Settlement following mediation that day.

The Memorandum of Settlement contemplated the drafting of a formal settlement agreement and contingent confession of judgment. The formal settlement documents and stipulation of dismissal were never drafted or executed. The contingent confession of judgment was never signed. Plaintiff Sparrow filed a Motion to Compel Settlement on December 22, 2015.

The parties exchanged memoranda prior to a consolidated hearing on Plaintiff Sparrow’s Motions to Compel Settlement on March 24, 2015 and submitted the same to the Court in advance of the hearing. The trial court filed an Order for Judgment on March 30, 2015 which granted Plaintiff’s Motion to Compel Settlement and entered

¹ According to Plaintiffs, Robert Clay Sparrow assigned his entire interest in these proceedings to Robert Clay Sparrow on October 1, 2014.

judgment against all Defendants in the amount of One Million Four Hundred Twenty-Seven Thousand, Three Hundred Forty-Seven and 56/100 Dollars plus interest. Said Order was received by Appellants' counsel on April 5, 2016.

Defendants timely served Motions to Alter or Amend on April 8, 2016, which were filed by the Clerk on April 12, 2016. A hearing on the Motions to Alter or Amend was held on March 10, 2016. The trial court entered an Order Denying the Motions to Alter or Amend on May 23, 2016, written notice of which was received by Appellants' counsel on June 14, 2016. Appellants timely filed a Notice of Appeal in each case on June 14, 2016 and Amended Notices of Appeal on June 21, 2016.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Prior to Plaintiffs selling the Subject Property in December 2011, Defendant David Baucom leased the Subject Property from Plaintiffs for approximately twelve years and made significant improvements to the same. During the pendency of the lease, Plaintiff Clay Sparrow talked to Mr. Baucom about purchasing the property. Mr. Baucom expressed some reluctance, but Mr. Sparrow assured him that if the purchase did not work out, Mr. Baucom could simply return the Subject Property to him. Based on Mr. Sparrow's representation, the parties were able to reach an agreement for a purchase and sale of the property. (R. p. 399).

The two parcels were sold within a single real estate closing, which was a seller-financed transaction. Upon the recommendation of Plaintiff Clay Sparrow, the transaction was closed on December 1, 2011 by attorney Jeff Smith at his office in North Carolina. The closing attorney formed two North Carolina LLCs to take title to the two parcels – Fort Mill Holdings, LLC and Maurer Holdings, LLC. (R. pp. 399-400, 422).

At its core, the transaction consisted of two purchase money promissory notes and two real estate mortgages. In one of the purchase money notes, Fort Mill Holdings, LLC was the borrower and David Baucom signed as “guarantor.” In the other promissory note, Maurer Holdings, LLC was the borrower and David Baucom signed as “guarantor.” Both notes expressly provide that they are governed by North Carolina law. The transaction was secured by first-priority real estate mortgages on the Subject Property.² (R. pp. 494-507). Defendants only made full monthly payments on the notes for approximately five months and partial payments for a couple of months thereafter. Mr. Baucom notified Plaintiff Sparrow that Defendants could not make the payments and wished to return the Subject Property to Plaintiffs.

On Friday, September 28, 2012, Plaintiffs’ attorney, Mr. Smith, contacted Mr. Baucom’s daughter, Tracy Goins, who was the managing member of Fort Mill Holdings and who also acted as an agent of Maurer Holdings. In the email, Mr. Smith stated the following:

“Clay has contacted me about the property in South Carolina off Carowinds Blvd. Clay is concerned as he has learned of David’s plans to abandon the property. He is concerned that damage may be done to the property. The loan agreement is in default due to the failure to pay property taxes, maintain insurance and to make the payments required under the promissory notes. David signed the notes as a personal guarantor and is personally liable for any damages to the building and for any losses resulting from his abandoning the property [sic]. Please pass this along to David and ask him to contact either Clay or me to discuss this matter. Clay would like to avoid foreclosure of the mortgages and wants to know if David will deed the property back to him.”

(R. pp. 404-405, 427-428).

² The mortgages were signed by representatives of Fort Mill Holdings and Maurer Holdings but were not signed by David Baucom.

Ms. Goins consulted with Mr. Baucom on Monday, October 1, 2012 and then notified Mr. Smith on October 2, 2012 that they would deed the property back to Mr. Sparrow. (R. pp. 404-410, 427-430).

Mr. Smith emailed Ms. Goins on November 6, 2012 and notified her as follows:

“Clay is concerned about the possibility of contractor liens attaching to the property since he knows substantial work was done there and wants to make sure any possible lien rights are extinguished as he is going forward with foreclosing on his mortgages.”

(R. pp. 411-414, 431-434).

Plaintiffs filed the two companion actions on February 8, 2013. In the actions, Plaintiffs sought to not only foreclose on the Subject Property but also to obtain deficiency judgments against all Defendants. Such monetary recovery is explicitly prohibited by North Carolina law which governs the promissory notes.

Mediation was held on October 7, 2014. Mr. Sparrow and Mr. Baucom were present along with their counsel. At mediation, Mr. Sparrow and Mr. Baucom signed the memorandum of settlement that is the subject of this matter (R. pp. 415-419, 438-442). Ms. Goins was not present at mediation, but it appears she likely signed later that day. The Settlement Memo provides in part that “Plaintiffs will consent to and counsel will execute a dismissal, with prejudice, of the referenced action, upon execution of formal documents.” (R. pp. 416, 439). The portion that says “upon execution of formal documents” is handwritten whereas the remaining portion is typed.

“Exhibit A” to the Settlement Memo provides that “Counsel will prepare more formal settlement documents and the contingent [confession of judgment], whereupon execution by all parties, the two lawsuits - 46-00438, and 46-00440, will be dismissed.”

(R. pp. 418, 441). No formal settlement documents, confessions of judgment, or stipulations of dismissal were ever executed. (R. p. 400).

After mediation, Defendants learned for the first time that North Carolina has an “anti-deficiency” law that prohibits Plaintiffs from obtaining a deficiency judgment against them. They did not have the benefit of this information at mediation and would not have signed the Settlement Memo if they had understood their rights under the law and what they were giving up by not proceeding and having the case decided on the merits. (R. p. 400).

Based on the information Defendants received following mediation, they refused to consummate the settlement by signing formal settlement documents or confessions of judgment. Due to their refusal to return executed confessions of judgment to Plaintiffs’ counsel, Plaintiffs’ counsel filed the Motion to Compel Settlement which was granted by the trial court.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In the trial court, Plaintiff/Respondent Clay Sparrow achieved a judgment against Defendants/Appellants (hereinafter collectively referred to as “Defendants”) which was expressly prohibited by governing law and public policy. The judgment arose from a mediated settlement memorandum which was not final. Furthermore, it was signed by Defendants only because they did not understand that North Carolina’s anti-deficiency law limited Mr. Sparrow to a return of the collateral and prohibited further relief against Defendants. By contesting Sparrow’s motion to compel settlement, Defendants merely seek to have the case decided on its merits rather than providing Plaintiff Sparrow with a windfall that would never be permitted if the case were litigated to its conclusion. Courts

in South Carolina have discretion to refuse to enforce settlements, and in this case an exercise of such discretion required an analysis of North Carolina substantive law, which the trial court did not do. Instead, the trial court found that South Carolina's policy of encouraging settlement of disputes trumps any consideration of North Carolina law that governs the underlying promissory note that Plaintiff is enforcing in this action. The trial court reached its conclusion without considering the substance of North Carolina law. Its failure to do so constitutes an abuse of discretion.

Furthermore, the trial court should have found that a settlement agreement is viewed as a contract, and contracts which violate statutes and/or public policy are void. Here, North Carolina law governed the purchase money note at issue in the case, and the settlement agreement unquestionably violates a North Carolina statute and public policy. North Carolina law must be considered when determining whether to enforce the settlement memorandum, and if considered, it dictates that the settlement agreement must not be enforced.

Finally, the settlement memorandum was preliminary and was not final or binding. Accordingly, the trial court should be reversed.

ARGUMENT

Trial courts are vested with the discretion to enforce – **or refuse to enforce** – settlements between parties. In this case, the trial court abused its discretion by enforcing the settlement and by failing to consider governing law which rendered the settlement void as a matter of law. The two purchase money notes that give rise to these companion cases are governed by North Carolina law, and North Carolina's "anti-deficiency" law firmly establishes that Plaintiffs are prohibited from seeking a money judgment against

Defendants. Furthermore, North Carolina law provides that purchasers, borrowers, and guarantors in seller-financed transactions cannot waive the protections provided to them under North Carolina's anti-deficiency statute. Defendants did not know such North Carolina laws existed until after mediation, and they never would have signed the Settlement Memo if they had that knowledge at the time. In essence, Defendants have had a \$1.4 million judgment entered against them in spite of the fact that a legally enforceable monetary obligation has never existed.

The relief that Defendants are seeking is not extraordinary. They are simply requesting that all parties be provided with access to the courts to have their respective positions decided on the merits. Accordingly, Defendants request that the trial court's Orders filed March 30, 2016 and May 23, 2016 be reversed.

I. Standard of Review and Legal Framework

Although a trial court in South Carolina has the power to enforce settlement agreements, "**it has the inherent power to refuse to enforce settlements.**" Rock Smith Chevrolet, Inc. v. Smith, 309 S.C. 91, 93, 419 S.E.2d 841, 842 (Ct. App. 1992) (emphasis added). "An abuse of discretion arises when the court issuing the order was controlled by an error of law or when the order, based upon factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support." Melton v. Olenik, 379 S.C. 45, 50, 664 S.E.2d 487, 490 (Ct. App. 2008) (citation omitted). "It is an equal abuse of discretion to refuse to exercise discretionary authority when it is warranted as it is to exercise the discretion improperly." Balloon Plantation, Inc. v. Head Balloons, Inc., 303 S.C. 152, 155, 399 S.E.2d 439, 441 (Ct. App. 1990).

South Carolina courts have held that settlement agreements “are viewed as contracts.” Pee Dee Stores, Inc. v. Doyle, 381 S.C. 234, 241, 672 S.E.2d 799, 802 (Ct. App. 2009). Furthermore, South Carolina courts have held that contracts will not be enforced if they violate a statute or are against public policy. “The general rule, well established in South Carolina, is that courts will not enforce a contract when the subject matter of the contract or an act required for performance violates public policy as expressed in constitutional provisions, statutory law, or judicial decisions. Berkebile v. Outen, 311 S.C. 50, 53–54, 426 S.E.2d 760, 762 (1993) (stating [a]n illegal contract has always been unenforceable); Batchelor v. American Health Ins. Co., 234 S.C. 103, 107 S.E.2d 36 (1959) (noting that contracts violating public policy as expressed in constitutional provisions, statutes, or judicial decisions are void).” White v. J.M. Brown Amusement Co., 360 S.C. 366, 371, 601 S.E.2d 342, 345 (2004). “An illegal contract is unenforceable. The general rule is that courts will not enforce a contract which is violative of public policy, statutory law, or provisions of the Constitution.” Beach Co. v. Twillman, Ltd., 351 S.C. 56, 64, 566 S.E.2d 863, 866–67 (Ct. App. 2002) (citation omitted).

II. The Trial Court Erred in Enforcing a Settlement when Defendants Did Not Understand the Risks and Benefits of Doing So.

Defendants signed a Settlement Memo only because they did not understand their respective rights and obligations which arose from the transactions that are the subject of this matter and what the potential risks and benefits would be of continuing with the litigation. If the trial court’s order is upheld and settlement is enforced, Plaintiff Sparrow will obtain a result that squarely violates governing law and which will provide him with a windfall that they cannot obtain if the case is decided on the merits.

The South Carolina Court of Appeals' decision in Rock Smith Chevrolet case is applicable here. In Rock Smith Chevrolet, the parties' counsel announced to the court immediately before trial that their clients had reached a settlement. Due to confusion that arose regarding the consummation of the settlement, the defendant, Tex Smith, petitioned the court to vacate the settlement and allow the case to proceed to trial. The trial court held a hearing to determine whether to enforce settlement. After hearing the facts and arguments on both sides, the trial judge said that although Mr. Smith had a "preconceived erroneous notion of [his] own making as to what [his] lawyer told [him] the trial judge might do . . . I can understand how Mr. Tex Smith might have misconstrued it and that concerns me somewhat." Id., 309 S.C. at 92-93, 419 S.E.2d at 842. Ostensibly due to Mr. Smith misconstruing his attorney's advice, the trial judge set aside the settlement and allowed the case to proceed on the merits. The Court should reach the same result here, and the trial court's order should be reversed so that the case may be decided on its merits.

In the hearing on Plaintiff's Motion to Compel Settlement, Plaintiff cited Petty v. Timken Corp., 849 F.2d 130, 133 (4th Cir. 1988) which states that "unless the resulting settlement is substantially unfair, judicial economy commands that a party be held to the terms of a voluntary agreement." In that case, the court noted that Mr. Petty, who sought to set aside the settlement had unrealistic expectations about his case and "offer[ed] little argument against the essential fairness of the settlement." The court went on to say "[a]t most, Petty appears to have had second thoughts about the level of his recovery. That does not, however, establish unfairness or justify setting aside an otherwise valid agreement." That situation is distinguishable from the instant case where Defendants

were not aware of the law that governed the case, and the end result is in clear violation of governing law and profoundly unfair to Defendants.

For the specific reasons set forth in more detail below, North Carolina's anti-deficiency law specifically prohibits an action against Defendants for a monetary judgment on the note, and the protections afforded by the anti-deficiency statute cannot be waived. In order to determine whether the settlement that Plaintiffs seek to enforce is fair, the Court must consider the substantive law that governs the promissory notes in these cases. North Carolina unequivocally limits Plaintiffs' recovery to a return of the collateral.

Defendants did not have this information until *after* mediation. Rule 43(k), SCRCF implies that litigants must have the benefit of counsel in order for a settlement to be binding. In part, Rule 43(k) states that a settlement will not be enforced unless it is "reduced to writing and signed by the parties and their counsel." (Emphasis added). Presumably the requirement that the parties and their counsel sign such a settlement agreement is included in order to ensure that parties receive are advised on the risks and benefits of settling or continuing with litigation. Here, Defendants could not possibly know the risks and benefits of settling without understanding the law that governed the transaction. Accordingly, the process and the result are substantially unfair and unjust, and the trial court's Orders should be reversed.

III. The Trial Court Erred in Finding that there is No Evidence Showing Substantial Injustice to Defendants When the Result Achieved by Plaintiff Sparrow Violates Applicable Law and Public Policy.

The purchase money notes that give rise to these cases are governed by North Carolina law. North Carolina law provides that a seller in a seller-financed transaction is limited to a return of the property if the purchaser defaults. North Carolina law also provides that its anti-deficiency protection cannot be waived. The statute was enacted for the protection of purchasers and is broadly construed in their favor. Here, substantive law dictates that Plaintiff is limited to a return of the Subject Property is prohibited from seeking a monetary judgment against Defendants.

North Carolina's anti-deficiency statute provides as follows:

“In all sales of real property by mortgagees and/or trustees under powers of sale contained in any mortgage or deed of trust executed after February 6, 1933, or where judgment or decree is given for the foreclosure of any mortgage executed after February 6, 1933, to secure to the seller the payment of the balance of the purchase price of real property, the mortgagee or trustee or holder of the notes secured by such mortgage or deed of trust shall not be entitled to a deficiency judgment on account of such mortgage, deed of trust or obligation secured by the same: Provided, said evidence of indebtedness shows upon the face that it is for balance of purchase money for real estate: Provided, further, that when said note or notes are prepared under the direction and supervision of the seller or sellers, he, it, or they shall cause a provision to be inserted in said note disclosing that it is for purchase money of real estate; in default of which the seller or sellers shall be liable to purchaser for any loss which he might sustain by reason of the failure to insert said provisions as herein set out.”

N.C. Gen. Stat. Ann. § 45-21.38

There can be no dispute that the notes at issue in this case are purchase money notes. On a number of occasions, the anti-deficiency statute has been interpreted by North Carolina's courts, which have recognized that the following rules apply in the context of seller-financed transactions such as the transaction at issue in this case:

1. The anti-deficiency statute “effects the broad public purpose of abolishing deficiency judgments in purchase money transactions if foreclosure on the security yields an insufficient fund to satisfy the indebtedness secured.” Chemical Bank v. Belk, 41 N.C.App. 356, 255 S.E.2d 421 (1979) (citing Ross Realty Co. v. First Citizens Bank & Trust Co., 296 N.C. 366, 250 S.E.2d 271 (1979)).

2. Sellers are prohibited from pursuing an action on personal guaranty. Adams v. Cooper, 340 N.C. 242, 460 S.E.2d 120 (1995).

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