THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
S. Jackson Kimball, III, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2013-CP-46-00438; 2013-CP-46-00440
Appellate Case No: 2016-001272

RECEIVED
JAN 31 2017
SC Court of Appeals

Robert Clay Sparrow and Mickey Crowe,

Respondents,

v.

Fort Mill Holdings, LLC, David Baucom,
and Maurer Holdings, LLC,

Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

James M. Griffin
Margaret N. Fox
GRIFFIN DAVIS LLC
PO Box 999
Columbia, SC 29202
803.744.0800
803.744.0805 (Fax)

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

ARGUMENT

In South Carolina, settlement agreements are viewed as contracts, and thus, enforcement of the terms of a settlement agreement is a matter of contract law. *Byrd v. Livingston*, 398 S.C. 237, 241, 727 S.E.2d 620, 621 (Ct. App. 2012) (citing *Pruitt v. S.C. Med. Malpractice Liab. Joint Underwriting Ass'n*, 343 S.C. 335, 339, 540 S.E.2d 843, 845 (2001)). " 'In an action at law, on appeal of a case tried without a jury, the appellate court's standard of review extends only to the correction of errors of law.' " *Consignment Sales, LLC v. Tucker Oil Co.*, 391 S.C. 266, 271, 705 S.E.2d 73, 76 (Ct. App. 2010) (quoting *Electro Lab of Aiken, Inc. v. Sharp Constr. Co. of Sumter, Inc.*, 357 S.C. 363, 367, 593 S.E.2d 170, 172 (Ct. App. 2004)). "The trial judge's findings of fact

will not be disturbed upon appeal unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the judge's findings." *Id.* at 271, 705 S.E.2d at 76.

I. The Trial Court did not Err in Enforcing the Settlement Agreement because the Settlement Agreement Complied with Rule 43(k), was not the Product of Fraud or Mutual Mistake, and Appellants' mistake of law was not grounds for rescission.

South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 43(k) applies to all settlement agreements signed by counsel. *Farnsworth v. Davis Heating & Air Conditioning, Inc.*, 367 S.C. 634, 638, 627 S.E.2d 724, 726 (2006). A settlement agreement governed by Rule 43(k) is binding where it is "reduced to writing and signed by the parties and their counsel." Rule 43(k), SCRCP. Additionally, Rule 43(k) settlement agreements are viewed as contracts and are construed under general contract principles. *Pee Dee Stores, Inc. v. Doyle*, 381 S.C. 234, 241, 672 S.E.2d 799, 802-03 (Ct. App. 2009); see 6 S.C. Jur. *Compromise & Settlement* §19. "Absent fraud or mistake, where attorneys of record for a party agree to settle a case, the party cannot later repudiate the settlement." *Shelton v. Bressant*, 312 S.C. 183, 184-85, 439 S.E.2d 833, 834 (S.C. 1993) (quoting *Arnold v. Yarborough*, 281 S.C. 570, 316 S.E.2d 416, 417 (Ct. App. 1984)). Nor can a party set aside a settlement agreement voluntarily executed based on the erroneous advice of the party's counsel. *Kirkland v. Moseley*, 109 S.C. 477, 96 S.E. 608 (1918); see also 27 *Williston on Contracts* § 70:125 (4th ed.) ("To cancel or reform a contract on the ground of mistake of law, the mistake must be mutual or arise from a misrepresentation of the law by one party of which the other was aware but did not rectify.").

The trial court's enforcement of the Settlement Agreement should be affirmed because the Settlement Agreement meets the requirements of Rule 43(k) and is not the product of fraud or mutual mistake of the law, and thus, is enforceable. There is no evidence in the Record that

Respondents engaged in fraud or provided material misrepresentations to Appellants to induce Appellants to execute the settlement agreement. Nor is there any evidence in the Record that the terms of the Settlement Agreement are a product of mutual mistake of the law at the time the Settlement Agreement was executed. *See 27 Williston on Contracts* § 70:125 (4th ed.). Rather, the record clearly illustrates the parties attended mediation, were each represented by counsel of their choosing, and entered into the Settlement Agreement voluntarily. Additionally, the Settlement Agreement is signed by counsel and the parties and clearly sets forth all of the material terms of the settlement. (R. p. 2-3). Thus, enforcement of the Settlement Agreement was proper.

Appellants urge this Court to set aside the trial court's order enforcing the Settlement Agreement based on their alleged mistake of the law. (Final Br. of Appellant 9-11).³ However, this argument is contrary to the law of this State. Erroneous legal advice or a misunderstanding of one's rights based on the advice of the party's counsel will not serve as grounds to set aside a settlement agreement. *Crowley*, 237 S.C. at 70, 488 S.E.2d at 335 (citing *Shelton*, 312 S.C. at 184-85, 439 S.E.2d at 834); *see also Kirkland v. Moseley*, 109 S.C. 477, 96 S.E. 608 (1918) (holding a party cannot set aside settlement agreement signed pursuant to attorney's erroneous advice). Thus, the trial court did not err by enforcing the Settlement Agreement despite Appellants' argument that but for their misunderstanding of the law and incorrect legal advice from their counsel, they would not have entered into the Settlement Agreement.

Moreover, Appellants' citation to *Rock Smith Chevrolet v. Smith*, 309 S.C. 91, 92-93, 419 S.E.2d 841, 842 (Ct. App. 1992), in support of their argument that a unilateral mistake of law is

³ Appellants' contention that enforcing the Settlement Agreement would be contrary to the purpose of Rule 43(k), and thus substantially unfair to Appellants, is without merit. South Carolina courts have expressly recognized a party's redress in such situation is in an action between the party and its counsel. *See Crowley v. Harvey & Battey, P.A.*, 327 S.C. 68, 70, 488 S.E.2d 334, 335 (1997).

grounds to void the Settlement Agreement is misplaced. (Final Br. of Appellant 10). In *Rock Smith Chevrolet*, a trial court vacated a settlement agreement where the evidence before the court was that the defendant misunderstood his attorney's advice when entering into the settlement agreement. *Id.* at 92-93, 419 S.E.2d at 842. However, unlike the defendant in *Rock Smith Chevrolet*, who possessed a sixth-grade level of education, there is no evidence in this case that Appellants lacked the capacity to understand the advice given to them by their attorney or the terms of the Settlement Agreement. Instead, Appellants are sophisticated parties, possessing business acumen who were represented by counsel throughout the duration of this matter.

Additionally, unlike the facts in *Rock Smith Chevrolet*, the Respondents in this case will suffer prejudice if the settlement is vacated. As evidenced in the record and included in the trial court's findings, Respondent Sparrow paid the outstanding York County real estate taxes owing on the properties in reliance on the terms of the settlement agreement. Prior to entering into the Settlement Agreement, Appellants were responsible for paying these taxes. Thus, the trial court correctly found it would be substantially unfair to Respondents if the Settlement Agreement was not enforced. (R. p. 4). Given the trial court's enforcement of the Settlement Agreement is supported by evidence in the record, this Court should affirm its order enforcing the Settlement Agreement.

II. The Trial Court did not Err in Finding that Appellants would not Suffer Substantial Injustice if the Settlement Agreement was Enforced.

Appellants argue their ignorance of North Carolina's "anti-deficiency" statute at the time they executed the Settlement Agreement results in substantial injustice to Appellant Baucom if the Settlement Agreement is enforced. (Final Br. of Appellant at 11-14). This Court has recognized that it is not the province of the trial court to rule on the fairness of a settlement agreement entered into "between adults represented by counsel." *Rock Smith Chevrolet*, 309 S.C. at 93, 419 S.E.2d

at 842; *see also* *W. v. Gladney*, 341 S.C. 127, 136, 533 S.E.2d 334, 338 (Ct. App. 2000) (“It is not for us to determine whether the parties' agreement was reasonable or wise, or whether they carefully guarded their rights.”). Thus, in the absence of fraud or undue influence, a unilateral mistake of law is not grounds to grant a party relief from a contract. *Smothers v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 322 S.C. 207, 210–11, 470 S.E.2d 858, 860 (Ct. App. 1996). This is true even where “the complaining party took measures to secure knowledge as to the state of the law and, being misinformed, placed himself in the prejudicial situation of which he later complains.” *Id.* at 210, 470 S.E.2d at 860.

The Record is clear that the parties were each represented by counsel at mediation. They negotiated new terms with regard to each party's obligations concerning the properties. Both sides agreed to these new terms and executed the Settlement Agreement. There was no fraud or undue influence. Moreover, Appellants received the benefit of their bargain because Respondent Sparrow paid the outstanding taxes on the property and Appellants were given the opportunity to sell the property. Now, after failing to sell the property, Appellants regret agreeing to the terms of the Settlement Agreement. This obviously is not a sufficient ground to set aside the Settlement Agreement. *See Blassingame v. City of Laurens*, 80 S.C. 38, 61 S.E. 96, 99 (1908) (“[A] man of understanding will not be allowed to say he did not know, and his mind did not meet the mind of the other party in the writing, which clearly expressed the proposed contract, when in assenting to it he had the writing before him, and there was nothing done by the other party to prevent his full and intelligent consideration of it.”). Moreover, as recognized by South Carolina courts, any injustice Appellants allegedly will suffer from relying on the advice of their counsel in entering into the Settlement Agreement is properly addressed in an action between Appellants and their counsel. *See Crowley*, 327 S.C. at 70, 488 S.E.2d at 335 (“We have further held that where a client

alleges his former attorney was negligent in advising him to accept a settlement, that alleged negligence is not a ground for attacking the settlement itself but rather is a matter left for a malpractice suit between the client and his attorney.”); *see also Shelton*, 312 S.C. 183, 439 S.E.2d 833 (1993); *Petty v. Timken Corp.*, 849 F.2d 130, 133 (4th Cir. 1988).

Finally, it is Respondents – not Appellants – that would suffer substantial injustice if the settlement agreement was not enforced. It is undisputed that prior to entering into the Settlement Agreement, the tax obligations for the properties rested with Appellants. Per the terms of the Settlement Agreement, Respondents agreed to and did pay \$70,595.46 in property taxes owed by Appellants on the subject properties in exchange for Appellants’ agreement to execute a confession of judgment in favor of Respondents as to each property. (R. p. 3). Respondents would suffer a substantial injustice if after complying with the Settlement Agreement in good faith, Appellants are permitted to avoid enforcement of their obligations under the Settlement Agreement. *L-J, Inc. v. S.C. State Highway Dept.*, 270 S.C. 413, 429, 242 S.E.2d 656, 663 (1978). Accordingly, the trial court’s order should be enforced.

III. The Trial Court did not Err by Enforcing the Settlement Agreement Despite the Existence of North Carolina’s Anti-Deficiency Statute and Public Policy Considerations Regarding the Same.

Appellants argue the Settlement Agreement is void as against North Carolina public policy and that enforcement of the Settlement Agreement would constitute an impermissible waiver under North Carolina’s anti-deficiency statute. (Final Br. of Appellant 12-18). However, as correctly held by the trial court, neither argument is grounds to set aside the Settlement Agreement. In considering Appellants’ argument that North Carolina’s anti-deficiency statute invalidates the Settlement, the trial judge correctly observed, “[t]he present case pertains only to enforcement of a voluntary settlement agreement made in accordance with applicable South Carolina rules and

case law.” (R. p. 3). The Settlement Agreement was created and executed by the parties in South Carolina and does not contain a choice of law provision. Thus, the trial court correctly found that South Carolina law, the *lex loci contractu*, not North Carolina law governs the Settlement Agreement. (R. p. 3); *see Russell Corp. v. Gregg*, No. 2005-UP-556, 2005 WL 7084813, at *3 (S.C. Ct. App. Oct. 17, 2005) (citing *Livingston v. Atl. Coast Line R.R.*, 176 S.C. 385, 180 S.E. 343 (1935)). Because the Settlement Agreement complied with Rule 43(k) and was not the product of fraud or misrepresentation, the trial court enforced the Settlement Agreement and judgment was entered against Appellants in accordance with South Carolina law.

Moreover, South Carolina, has a legitimate interest in ensuring that parties that voluntarily enter into a valid settlement agreement are held to its terms. *See Wolf v. Colonial Life and Acc. Ins. Co.*, 309 S.C. 100, 108, 420 S.E.2d 217, 221 (Ct. App. 1992) (holding sound public policy requires enforcement of contracts freely entered into by parties). This interest is compounded by the State’s strong public policy favoring the settlement of actions before its courts. *See e.g. Chester v. S.C. Dept. of Public Safety*, 388 S.C. 343, 346, 698 S.E.2d 559, 560 (2010); *see also* (R. p. 8). (citing *Poston by Poston v. Barnes*, 294 S.C. 261, 363 S.E.2d 888 (1987); and, *Darden v. Witham*, 258 S.C. 380, 188 S.E.2d 776 (1972)). The trial court’s enforcement of the Settlement Agreement furthers these public policies, and is thus proper, notwithstanding the waiver and policy considerations stemming from North Carolina’s anti-deficiency statute. *See* (R. p. 8).

IV. It was not Error for the Trial Court to Enforce the Settlement Agreement when Appellants Refused to Execute Documents Contemplated by the Settlement Agreement.

The unambiguous language of Rule 43(k) requires enforcement of the Settlement Agreement because the terms of the agreement were reduced to writing and signed by the parties and their counsel. *See Ashfort Corp. v. Palmetto Const. Group, Inc.*, 318 S.C. 492, 458 S.E.2d

533 (1995) (recognizing purpose of Rule 43(k) is to prevent disputes as to existence and terms of agreements regarding pending litigation). The terms of the Settlement Agreement in this instance are clearly set forth in the Settlement Agreement. The parties agreed that Appellants would execute a confession of judgment in favor of Respondents in a specified amount, accruing a specified rate of interest until the debts were repaid. *See* (R. p. 486-490). Respondents agreed the confession of judgment would remain unfiled for one year, until October 7, 2015. *Id.* If during the year, Appellants were able to sell the properties and repay Respondents the amount owed, Respondents would forgo filing the judgment. *Id.* However, if the Appellants were unable to repay Respondents \$1,427,347.56, with interest, prior to October 7, 2015, then Respondents were entitled to file the confession of judgment. *Id.* The parties and their counsel agreed to these terms as reflected in their signatures on the Settlement Agreement. Given the clarity of the terms of the Settlement Agreement, and its compliance with Rule 43(k), the Court properly enforced the Settlement Agreement.

Appellants' argument that the Settlement Agreement cannot be enforced because the parties did not "execute formal documents," (Final Br. of Appellant 18), is without merit because execution of formal documents was not a condition precedent to the Settlement Agreement. A condition precedent is "any fact other than the lapse of time, which, unless excused, must exist or occur before a duty of immediate performance arises." *Ballenger Corp. v. City of Columbia*, 286 S.C. 1, 5, 331 S.E.2d 365, 368 (Ct. App. 1985). Whether a provision in a settlement agreement "constitutes a condition precedent is a question of construction dependent on the intent of the parties to be gathered from the language they employ." *Byrd*, 398 S.C. at 244, 727 S.E.2d at 623 (quoting *Brewer v. Stokes Kia, Isuzu, Subaru, Inc.*, 364 S.C. 444, 449, 613 S.E.2d 802, 805 (Ct. App. 2005)). A settlement agreement "should be construed so as to give them effect and carry

out the intention of the parties.” *Ecclesiastes Prod. Ministries v. Outparcel Assocs., LLC*, 374 S.C. 483, 497, 649 S.E.2d 494, 501 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing *Mishoe v. Gen. Motors Acceptance Corp.*, 234 S.C. 182, 188, 107 S.E.2d 43, 47 (1958)).